PANORAMIC

TAX ON INBOUND INVESTMENT

Japan



Tax on Inbound Investment

Contributing Editor

Graham Samuel-Gibbon

Taylor Wessing

Generated on: October 22, 2024

The information contained in this report is indicative only. Law Business Research is not responsible for any actions (or lack thereof) taken as a result of relying on or in any way using information contained in this report and in no event shall be liable for any damages resulting from reliance on or use of this information. Copyright 2006 - 2024 Law Business Research

Contents

Tax on Inbound Investment

ACQUISITIONS (FROM THE BUYER'S PERSPECTIVE)

Tax treatment of different acquisitions

Step-up in basis

Domicile of acquisition company

Company mergers and share exchanges

Tax benefits in issuing stock

Transaction taxes

Net operating losses, other tax attributes and insolvency proceedings

Interest relief

Protections for acquisitions

POST-ACQUISITION PLANNING

Restructuring

Spin-offs

Migration of residence

Interest and dividend payments

Tax-efficient extraction of profits

DISPOSALS (FROM THE SELLER'S PERSPECTIVE)

Disposal methods

Disposals of stock

Mitigating and deferring tax

UPDATE AND TRENDS

Key developments of the past year

Contributors

Japan

Nagashima Ohno & Tsunematsu

Nagashima Ohno & Tsunematsu

Kenji Horiuchi Yoneda Takahito Mori Kaito kenji_horiuchi@noandt.com takahito_yoneda@noandt.com kaito_mori@noandt.com

ACQUISITIONS (FROM THE BUYER'S PERSPECTIVE)

Tax treatment of different acquisitions

What are the differences in tax treatment between an acquisition of stock in a company and the acquisition of business assets and liabilities?

In general, an acquisition of stock in a company does not affect the tax attributes of the target company. For example, the target company's net operating losses (NOLs) will remain intact and can be carried forward after the acquisition, subject to tax avoidance rules. Similarly, the basis of the target's business assets will generally remain the same. Furthermore, no goodwill is recognised by the acquirer even if there is a difference between the purchase price of the stock in the target company and the aggregate value of the assets less liabilities of the target company.

An acquisition of stock in the target company is not subject to consumption tax (Japanese value added tax), stamp duty, real estate acquisition tax and licence and registration tax.

On the other hand, an acquisition of the assets and liabilities of the target company does not inherit the tax attributes of the target company. The acquirer cannot inherit and use the NOLs of the target company, even if the acquirer acquires and takes over the business previously conducted by the target company. The acquirer is entitled to a step-up in the basis in the target's business assets. The acquirer may recognise goodwill to the extent of any difference between the purchase price and the aggregate value of the assets less liabilities of the target company.

The transfer of assets other than land is generally subject to consumption tax, and if the assets transferred are real estate, real estate acquisition tax and licence and registration tax are also payable. Stamp duty on transaction documents may be imposed as well. Please be advised that different rules and tax rates regarding these taxes would apply if the asset transfer is conducted by means of mergers or demergers as opposed to a single asset transfer or business transfer.

Law stated - 12 8 2024

Step-up in basis

In what circumstances does a purchaser get a step-up in basis in the business assets of the target company? Can goodwill and other intangibles be depreciated for tax purposes in the event of the purchase of those assets, and the purchase of stock in a company owning those assets?

In an asset purchase transaction, a purchaser of the business assets of the target company is entitled to a step-up in basis of the business assets purchased. The acquired intangible assets can be amortised over certain statutory years under Japanese tax law. The purchaser can and must amortise the goodwill (ie, the difference between the purchase price and the aggregate value of the assets less liabilities of the target company) over five years on a monthly basis in the case of an acquisition of a business.

On the other hand, a purchaser of the stock in the target company is not entitled to a step-up in basis of the underlying assets of the target company. The purchaser does not recognise any goodwill on the purchase of the stock in the target company; therefore, the purchaser is not entitled to amortise any goodwill.

Law stated - 12 8 2024

Domicile of acquisition company

Is it preferable for an acquisition to be executed by an acquisition company established in or out of your jurisdiction?

If the acquisition is through the purchase of the stock in the target company, this question depends in part on how the acquirer finances the acquisition. If the acquirer is a strategic buyer, it often borrows funds for the acquisition by way of a corporate loan. In this case, it is preferable to buy the stock in the target company outright, which allows the acquirer to offset its own operating income against the interest on such a loan without any subsequent procedures or reorganisations. On the other hand, if the acquirer is a financial buyer, it is preferable to establish an acquisition company in Japan. While a merger or tax consolidation (the Group Aggregation System) between the acquisition company and the target company makes it possible to offset the target company's operating income against the interest on the acquisition finance borrowed by the acquisition company, a merger and tax consolidation can only be carried out between Japanese companies under Japanese law.

If the acquisition is made by way of purchase of assets and liabilities of the target company, an acquisition company established in Japan is preferable in order to avoid the permanent establishment risk that may arise if the acquisition company established in a foreign jurisdiction directly purchases the assets and liabilities of the target company.

Law stated - 12 8 2024

Company mergers and share exchanges

Are company mergers or share exchanges common forms of acquisition?

Mergers and share exchanges are common forms of acquisitions when companies involved in such mergers or share exchanges are only Japanese companies. However, we are not aware of any mergers and share exchanges under the Companies Act of Japan directly conducted between a foreign company and a Japanese company since such cross-border mergers or share exchanges are not feasible under the Companies Act of Japan. Instead, similar consequences can be achieved through triangular mergers or triangular share exchanges. In a triangular merger or triangular share exchange, a Japanese acquisition company and a Japanese target company are the parties to the merger or share exchange under the Companies Act of Japan, and the stock in the foreign parent company of the Japanese acquisition company is used as the consideration for the merger or share exchange. Reverse triangular mergers do not exist under Japanese corporate law.

Law stated - 12 8 2024

Tax benefits in issuing stock

Is there a tax benefit to the acquirer in issuing stock as consideration rather than cash?

It is generally more beneficial for the acquisition company to issue stock as consideration rather than to pay cash in a corporate reorganisation from a tax law perspective. Cash consideration in a corporate reorganisation such as a merger or share exchange generally prevents the corporate reorganisation from being treated as a tax-qualified one, where the target company does not recognise any unrealised gain or loss on its assets (in the case of a merger) or on its assets subject to mark-to-market valuation (in the case of a share exchange).

However, the issuance of stock as consideration in a merger or share exchange does not automatically mean that the merger or share exchange is tax-qualified. If the acquisition company is an SPC and does not own more than 50 per cent of the stock in the target company and does not control the target company, the merger or share exchange is unlikely to be treated as a tax-qualified corporate reorganisation because the acquisition company does not carry on any business and such a merger or share exchange is unlikely to meet the 'related business requirement', which requires one of the acquisition company's businesses to be related to the main business of the target company. Accordingly, if the acquirer wishes to use stock as consideration while satisfying the requirements for tax-qualified corporate reorganisations, it is worth considering whether the SPC acquisition company first acquires control of the target company and then the acquisition company enters into a merger or share exchange with the target company using stock of the acquisition company or its parent company as consideration. The related business requirement does not need to be satisfied for a corporate reorganisation between a controlling company and a controlled company.

Law stated - 12 8 2024

Transaction taxes

Are documentary taxes payable on the acquisition of stock or business assets and, if so, what are the rates and who is accountable? Are any other transaction taxes payable?

Stamp duty is levied on the documents listed in the Stamp Duty Act. Although stock purchase agreements are not taxable, taxable documents include, among others, stock certificate, real estate or intellectual property purchase agreements, business transfer agreements, loan agreements and merger agreements. Stamp duty is levied only on the documents that are physically prepared in Japan. Electronic copies are not subject to stamp duty even if they are prepared in Japan.

The amount of stamp duty is determined based on the type of document and the stated contract amount (if any). The amount of stamp duty ranges from ¥200 to ¥600,000. Stamp duty is payable by the person who prepares a taxable document (ie, describes the required taxable information in a taxable document and uses the taxable document as intended). For example, in the case of a stock certificate, the issuing company is liable for stamp duty, and in the case of a real estate transfer agreement, all parties to the agreement are jointly liable for stamp duty.

The domestic transfer of assets other than land, including the transfer of a business, is generally subject to consumption tax (Japanese value added tax) at a rate of 10 per cent. In addition, if the assets transferred are real estate, the transferee is also subject to real estate transfer tax at a rate of up to 4 per cent of the registered taxable value for the acquisition and licence and registration tax at a rate of up to 2 per cent for the registration. Please be advised that different rules and tax rates regarding these taxes would apply in the case of mergers and demergers as opposed to a single asset transfer or business.

Law stated - 12 8 2024

Net operating losses, other tax attributes and insolvency proceedings
Are net operating losses, tax credits or other types of deferred tax asset
subject to any limitations after a change of control of the target or in any
other circumstances? If not, are there techniques for preserving them?
Are acquisitions or reorganisations of bankrupt or insolvent companies
subject to any special rules or tax regimes?

Generally, a company's NOLs may be carried forward for the following 10 fiscal years (nine fiscal years, for the fiscal years commencing before 1 April 2018) if the company files a Blue Return, which is a preferential tax return. A company may offset all such NOL carry-forwards against its taxable income if the company's amount of registered stated capital is ¥100 million or less and the company is not wholly owned (directly or indirectly) by a large company with the amount of registered stated capital of ¥500 million or more. Otherwise, a company may offset such NOL carry-forwards against its taxable income, but only up to 50 per cent of its taxable income.

There are some exceptions to the above in the event of a change of control or insolvency. For example, if more than 50 per cent of stock in a company (ie, control) is acquired and one of the statutory events occurs within five years of the acquisition, then the company will no longer be able to use the NOL carry-forwards. Such statutory events include:

- where the company is a dormant company, and the company commences a business after the acquisition; and
- where the company ceases the business carried on before the acquisition and receives a significant amount of investment or loan in relation to the scale of the business ceased.

This is a tax avoidance rule for transactions primarily motivated by the acquisition of NOLs. On the other hand, if a company is subject to corporate rehabilitation proceedings, civil rehabilitation proceedings or certain other similar out-of-court proceedings, the aforementioned 10-year limitation on the NOL carry-forwards does not apply to the extent of certain taxable income, such as income arising from debt forgiveness by certain statutory creditors. In addition, the 50 per cent limitation on the use of NOL carry-forwards does not apply.

Law stated - 12 8 2024

Interest relief

Does an acquisition company get interest relief for borrowings to acquire the target? Are there restrictions on deductibility generally or where the lender is foreign, a related party, or both? In particular, are there capitalisation rules that prevent the pushdown of excessive debt?

Generally speaking, interest paid by the acquisition company is deductible from its taxable income. However, there are restrictions on the interest deductions: the thin capitalisation rules and the earnings stripping rules.

Under the thin capitalisation rules, if the amount of debt owed to its foreign controlling shareholders exceeds three times the amount of equity held by the foreign controlling shareholders, the deduction of any interest payment corresponding to the excess amount of debt is denied.

Under the earnings stripping rules, the deduction of net interest payments (as defined in the rules) to any third parties, whether related or unrelated, in excess of 20 per cent of adjusted taxable income (as defined in the rules and close to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation) is disallowed. The disallowed amounts may be carried forward for the following seven fiscal years. This 20 per cent threshold is analysed and tested on a domestic corporate group basis rather than on an individual corporate entity basis. In this regard, the amount of dividend income eligible for either the domestic or foreign dividends received deduction is disregarded in the calculation of adjusted taxable income. Accordingly, even if the acquisition company and the target company remain separate entities after the acquisition, this will not necessarily result in a higher amount of the adjusted taxable income on a domestic corporate group basis.

Finally, there are no capitalisation rules specifically designed to prevent the pushdown of excessive debt.

Law stated - 12 8 2024

Protections for acquisitions

What forms of protection are generally sought for stock and business asset acquisitions? How are they documented? How are any payments made following a claim under a warranty or indemnity treated from a tax perspective? Are they subject to withholding taxes or taxable in the hands of the recipient? Is tax indemnity insurance common in your jurisdiction?

In an M&A agreement such as a stock purchase agreement and a business transfer agreement, it is common practice to set forth the representations and warranties made by each party, and the representations and warranties made by the seller often include, among other things, those relating to contingent liabilities and tax matters of the target company and (in the case of a business transfer) the sufficiency of the assets transferred.

Indemnity payments made for a breach of such representations and warranties by the seller will generally constitute taxable income to the buyer because they are characterised as compensation for a loss suffered by the buyer. However, if the relevant M&A agreement expressly provides that the indemnity payments are to be treated by the parties as an adjustment to the purchase price for tax purposes, then the indemnity payments will be

RETURN TO CONTENTS

treated as such and will not constitute taxable income in the hands of the buyer. The inclusion of this type of provision is common practice in Japan. Indemnity payments are not subject to Japanese withholding tax.

Last, warranty and indemnity insurance has become common in recent years; but tax indemnity insurance is still uncommon in Japan.

Law stated - 12 8 2024

POST-ACQUISITION PLANNING

Restructuring

What post-acquisition restructuring, if any, is typically carried out and why?

Assume that an acquisition company has acquired a target company with two businesses (A and B) and no longer needs the business B. With respect to the post-acquisition restructuring involving the transfer of the business B to a third party through a negotiated transaction, there are two types of methods:

- a corporate demerger or a direct transfer of the business B as a whole; and
- a stock transfer, whereby the target company creates a new subsidiary with the business B and transfers its shares to the third party.

However, if it is not possible to sell the business B to anyone (eg, the necessary merger clearance cannot be obtained), a spin-off of the business B by the target company may be an option: the company establishes a new company with the business B (SpinCo) and distributes SpinCo's shares to the existing shareholders. In principle, only 100 per cent spin-offs are tax-qualified in Japan, although there are some temporary statutory measures for tax-qualified 'partial' spin-offs.

Last, if the target company wishes to raise funds from new shareholders while retaining some of its equity in the business B, it should consider an IPO of its subsidiary with the business B.

Law stated - 12 8 2024

Spin-offs

Can tax-neutral spin-offs of businesses be executed and, if so, can the net operating losses of the spun-off business be preserved? Is it possible to achieve a spin-off without triggering transfer taxes?

There are two methods of spin-offs under the Corporation Tax Act of Japan:

- a pro rata distribution of all the shares of the wholly owned subsidiary (SpinCo) of the parent company to its shareholders (a share distribution); and
- a spin-off of the business by way of a corporate demerger.

RETURN TO CONTENTS

In both cases, one of the requirements for tax-qualified (ie, tax-free) spin-offs is that all the shares of the SpinCo are distributed pro rata. However, in 2023, Japanese tax law set forth a tax-qualified partial spin-off by way of a share distribution in which the parent company retains less than 20 per cent of the SpinCo's shares as a temporary tax measure.

In principle, the accumulated net operating losses (NOLs) of the business to be spun off cannot be used subsequently by the SpinCo in the case of a demerger, whereas in the case of a share distribution, the accumulated NOLs of the SpinCo are in principle preserved.

No accumulated capital gains or losses are recognised as long as the spin-off qualifies as a tax-qualified one. If the SpinCo and the parent company use the tax consolidation system (the Group Aggregation System), accumulated gains and losses on SpinCo's assets subject to mark-to-market valuation may, in limited circumstances, be recognised upon the SpinCo's degrouping from the parent company's tax consolidation as a result of the spin-off. Such a degrouping charge is not triggered if the spin-off qualifies as a tax-qualified one.

There is no transfer tax in the case of a share distribution, whereas in the case of a demerger, transfer taxes, such as real estate acquisition tax and registration and licence tax, are generally imposed on the transfer of the assets in the demerger, although the real estate acquisition tax may be exempt.

Law stated - 12 8 2024

Migration of residence

Is it possible to migrate the residence of the acquisition company or target company from your jurisdiction without tax consequences?

The Companies Act of Japan provides that a corporation is incorporated upon registration with a registration office of the Japanese government at the address of its head office. In addition, the Corporation Tax Act of Japan stipulates that the tax residence of a corporation is the address of its head office. Consequently, it is impossible to migrate a corporation itself established under Japanese corporate law to another jurisdiction from a corporate law and tax law perspective.

Law stated - 12 8 2024

Interest and dividend payments

Are interest and dividend payments made out of your jurisdiction subject to withholding taxes and, if so, at what rates? Are there domestic exemptions from these withholdings or are they treaty-dependent?

Interest and dividends paid by a domestic corporation to a non-resident person or a foreign corporation without a permanent establishment are subject to withholding tax. Interest on a loan and dividends from unlisted assets are generally subject to withholding tax at the rate of 20.42 per cent, whereas interest on a bond of a domestic corporation and dividends from listed assets are in general withheld at the rate of 15.315 per cent. Both rates include income tax and the Special Reconstruction Income Tax.

RETURN TO CONTENTS

In the context of post-acquisition planning, there are no noteworthy domestic exemptions from the withholding tax. The domestic rules and tax rates described above may be modified by any applicable tax treaties.

Law stated - 12 8 2024

Tax-efficient extraction of profits

What other tax-efficient means are adopted for extracting profits from your jurisdiction?

Under Japanese tax law, management fees paid to non-residents are taxable only if the relevant service falls within certain types of business and is performed in Japan. In addition, management fees paid by a Japanese corporation are in principle treated as deductible expenses for tax purposes. Consequently, management fees are generally a tax-efficient means of shifting profits from a Japanese subsidiary to its non-resident parent company.

Royalties are also a tax-efficient means for extracting profits. Although royalty payments are subject to withholding tax at the rate of 20.42 per cent under Japanese tax law, such taxation is usually mitigated or waived by applicable tax treaties.

Law stated - 12 8 2024

DISPOSALS (FROM THE SELLER'S PERSPECTIVE)

Disposal methods

How are disposals most commonly carried out – a disposal of the business assets, the stock in the local company or stock in the foreign holding company?

In Japan, the following two methods of transferring a business to a third party are commonly used:

- a corporate demerger or a direct transfer of the business as a whole; and
- a stock transfer, whereby the seller company creates a new subsidiary with the business and transfers its shares to the third party.

Both methods are commonly used for various reasons, including not only tax efficiency but also regulatory requirements.

Law stated - 12 8 2024

Disposals of stock

Where the disposal is of stock in the local company by a non-resident company, will gains on disposal be exempt from tax? Might a disposal of stock in a foreign holding company trigger taxes in the local company in your jurisdiction? Are there special rules dealing with the disposal of stock in real-property, energy and natural-resource companies?

Under the Corporation Tax Act of Japan, a non-resident company that owns a permanent establishment (PE) in Japan is taxed on all income that is attributable to the PE, including capital gains from the disposal of stock of a Japanese company.

Capital gains from the disposal of stock of a Japanese company realised by a non-resident company that does not own a PE in Japan are generally not subject to Japanese income tax, with the following notable exceptions.

- Disposal of stock of a Japanese company similar to a business transfer: where the non-resident company, together with its specially related shareholders, owns or has owned 25 per cent or more of the stock of the Japanese company at any time within three years prior to the last day of the fiscal year in which the date of disposal falls, and disposes of 5 per cent or more of the stock of the Japanese company (the '25/5 rule').
- Disposal of stock of a real estate holding company: a company, whether Japanese or foreign, is a real estate holding company if 50 per cent or more of its total assets consists or have consisted of real estate located in Japan or stock of other real estate holding companies at any time within one year prior to the date of disposal. If the non-resident company disposing of stock of a real estate holding company, together with its specially related shareholders, held more than 2 per cent of the stock of such real estate holding company (or more than 5 per cent if such real estate holding company is listed on a stock exchange) on the day preceding the first day of the fiscal year in which the non-resident company disposes of the stock, the capital gain arising from such disposal is subject to Japanese income tax.

While the 25/5 rule is not triggered by the sale of stock of a foreign holding company, a foreign holding company may itself fall within the definition of a real estate holding company.

Law stated - 12 8 2024

Mitigating and deferring tax

If a gain is taxable on the disposal either of the shares in the local company or of the business assets by the local company, are there any methods for deferring or mitigating the tax?

Generally, a direct transfer of shares in a Japanese company by a non-resident company that does not have a permanent establishment in Japan is taxable only if the non-resident company, together with its specially related shareholders, owns 25 per cent or more of the shares in the Japanese company and sells 5 per cent or more of the shares in the Japanese company. This capital gain taxation may be exempt under some tax treaties (if applicable). In addition, an indirect transfer (ie, transfer of shares in the foreign parent company) can be used to avoid this capital gain taxation.

If the requirements for a tax-qualified demerger or contribution in kind are met, it is possible for a Japanese company to transfer its business assets tax-free. However, as the consideration can only be shares and not, in principle, cash, the Japanese company will end up with a shareholding in the other Japanese company with the transferred business assets, so it is not possible to divest the business assets completely and receive cash tax-free.

UPDATE AND TRENDS

Key developments of the past year

Are there any emerging trends or hot topics relating to tax on inbound investment?

With respect to digital services, Japan's consumption tax (Japanese value added tax) adopted the 'destination principle' as part of the 2015 tax reform. Under this principle, consumption tax is levied on digital services provided to residents of Japan. Concurrently, the reverse charge mechanism was introduced for business-to-business digital services in order to ensure tax enforcement: recipients of such digital services are required to file and pay consumption tax instead of the digital service providers.

However, business-to-consumer (B2C) digital service providers have been still required to file and pay consumption tax even if they are not residents of Japan or they do not have any tax presence in Japan. This has resulted in a lack of certainty regarding the enforceability of taxation for foreign digital service providers and a sense of inequality among taxpayers, which have been considered as especially problematic in the context of the increasing prevalence of cross-border digital B2C services via digital platforms.

Against these backgrounds, the 2024 tax reform introduced new digital platform taxation rules into the Consumption Tax Act (Japanese value added tax law) with the effective date of 1 April 2025. These rules target digital platforms through which digital services, such as application distribution, are provided to Japanese consumers.

Under the new rules, if a foreign business operator provides B2C digital services such as application distribution via a digital platform of a Specified Platform Operator designated by the Commissioner of the National Tax Agency (Japan's tax authority) and receives the compensation for such services via the digital platform, such services are deemed to be provided by the Specified Platform Operator for consumption tax purposes, rather than by the foreign business operator itself. Consequently, the Specified Platform Operator is required to file and pay consumption tax regardless of whether its digital platform is a domestic one or not.

If the total amount of consideration for B2C digital services via digital platforms of an operator per fiscal year exceeds ¥5 billion, the operator of the digital platforms must submit a notification to the Commissioner of the National Tax Agency by the deadline for filing its consumption tax return. The operator of the digital platforms is to be designated and published by the Commissioner as a Specified Platform Operator. The Specified Platform Operator must also subsequently notify foreign B2C digital service providers using its digital platforms that the Specified Platform Operator is responsible for filing and paying Japan's consumption tax instead of the foreign B2C digital service providers using its digital platforms.

Law stated - 12 8 2024